
Contact:  Martin Smith, Registration and Civic Services Manager
Tel: 01270 686012
E-Mail:          martin.r.smith@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Cheshire Police and Crime Panel
Agenda

Date: Friday 20th September 2019
Time: 10.00 am
Venue: Council Chamber, Wyvern House, The Drumber, Winsford CW7 

1AH

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and 
press. Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the 
reasons indicated on the agenda and at the foot of each report.

PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT

1. Apologies  

Members are reminded that, in accordance with governance procedure rule 2.7, 
Panel Members, or their constituent authority, may nominate substitute members 
of the Panel in the event that the appointed representative(s) is/are unable to 
attend the meeting.  Advance notice of substitution should be given to the host 
authority wherever possible.  Members are encouraged wherever possible to 
secure the attendance of a substitute if they are unable to be present.

2. Code of Conduct - Declaration of Interests.  Relevant Authorities (Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012  

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest which they have in any item of business on 
the agenda no later than when the item is reached.



3. Public Participation  

To receive questions from members of the public in accordance with governance 
procedure rule 14.  A total period of 15 minutes will be allocated for members of 
the public to speak at Panel meetings.  Each member of the public shall be 
limited to a period of up to 5 minutes speaking.

Members of the public may speak on any matter relating to the work of the 
Panel. During public speaking time, members of the public may ask questions of 
the Panel and the Chairman, in responding to the question, may answer the 
question, may decline to do so, may agree to reply at a later date or may refer 
the question to an appropriate person or body.

Questions will be asked and answered without discussion.  In order for officers to 
undertake any background research, members of the public who wish to ask a 
question at a Panel meeting should submit the question at least a day before the 
meeting.

Members of the public are able to put questions direct to Cheshire’s Police and 
Crime Panel via social media platform Twitter.

The Cheshire Police and Crime Panels’ Twitter account @CheshirePCP

4. Minutes of Previous Meetings  (Pages 5 - 20)

To approve the minutes of the meetings held on 14 June 2019 and 5 July 2019.

5. Powers of the Panel in relation to the suspension / removal of the Chief 
Constable  (Pages 21 - 22)

To receive a report providing clarification on the Panel’s roles and responsibilities 
in relation to the suspension/removal of the Chief Constable.

6. Presentation of Scrutiny Agendas and Papers  (Pages 23 - 26)

To consider how information relating to the Police and Crime Commissioner’s 
Scrutiny Boards could be presented to Panel members.

7. Visit to Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel  

To discuss visiting the Essex Police, Fire and Crime Panel.

10.45 am THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER WILL BE IN ATTENDANCE FOR 
THE FOLLOWING PART OF THE MEETING

8. Police and Crime Commissioner Draft Annual Report  (Pages 27 - 50)

The Commissioner to present his Annual Report for 2018-19.



9. Overview and Scrutiny of the Police and Crime Commissioner  

10. Scrutiny Items  

To receive, note and inform any future scrutiny or work programme items.

The papers for the Scrutiny Meeting held on 4 September 2019 can be found at:
https://cheshire-pcc.gov.uk/what-im-doing/holding-the-chief-constable-to-
account/scrutiny-board/scrutiny-board-documents-2019-20/

11. Work Programme  (Pages 51 - 52)

To consider the Work Programme.

12. Date of Next Meeting  

Friday 22 November 2019 at 2.00 pm at Warrington Town Hall.

https://cheshire-pcc.gov.uk/what-im-doing/holding-the-chief-constable-to-account/scrutiny-board/scrutiny-board-documents-2019-20/
https://cheshire-pcc.gov.uk/what-im-doing/holding-the-chief-constable-to-account/scrutiny-board/scrutiny-board-documents-2019-20/




Minutes of a meeting of the Cheshire Police and Crime Panel
held on Friday, 14th June, 2019 at Council Chamber, Municipal Buildings, 

Earle Street, Crewe CW1 2BJ

PRESENT

Councillors:

Cheshire East Councillors A Critchley, JP Findlow and
M Warren

Cheshire West and Chester Councillors M Delaney and L Riley

Halton Councillors  N Plumpton Walsh and D Thompson

Warrington Councillors J Davidson and B Maher

Independent Co-optees Mr B Fousert (Chairman) , Mrs S Hardwick and 
Mr E Morris

Officers Mr B Reed and Mr M Smith (Secretariat, Cheshire 
East Council)

1 APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Councillor Andrew Dawson, who was 
represented by Councillor Lynn Riley and Councillor Rob Bissett.

2 APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN FOR THE 2019/20 MUNICIPAL YEAR 

RESOLVED: 

That Mr Bob Fousert be elected as Chairman.

3 APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTY CHAIRMAN FOR THE 2019/20 
MUNICIPAL YEAR 

Mr Evan Morris and Councillor Andrew Dawson were both nominated and 
seconded for the position of Deputy Chairman and the nominations were 
put to the vote. 

RESOLVED:

That Mr Evan Morris be appointed as Deputy Chairman.

 



4 CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.  RELEVANT 
AUTHORITIES (DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS) 
REGULATIONS 2012 

There were no declarations of interest.

5 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

There were no members of the public present who wished to speak.

6 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

The Minutes of the previous meeting held on 15th March were reviewed. 

The Chairman noted that the issue of Police recruitment practices would 
be taken up with the Commissioner later in the meeting.

Councillor Anthony Critchley sought clarification over the report prepared 
in relation to the Chief Constable’s disciplinary process. The Chairman 
clarified that the Panel were only being asked to approve the accuracy of 
the Minutes of the meeting held on 15th March 2019. 

The Panel noted that the meeting originally planned for Friday 10th April 
2020 would now be held the previous week, on Friday 3rd April.

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 15th March 2019 be approved as 
a correct record.  

7 PANEL MEMBERSHIP 

The Panel noted the nominations made for the 2019/20 Municipal year by 
the four Cheshire local authorities. 

Mr Evan Morris had originally been appointed to serve on the Panel for a 
two-year term, up to 30 September 2019. The Chairman sought the 
Panel’s views on reappointing Mr Morris to the Panel.

RESOLVED

That Mr Evan Morris be appointed to serve for a further three years, taking 
his term of office up to 30th September 2022.

8 CHESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL BUDGET 2019/20 

The Panel reviewed the proposed budget for 2019/20, seeking clarification 
over the way in which the costs of supporting the Panel were calculated. It 
was noted that the grant received from the Home Office had not increased 
for a number of years. 



The Panel thanked Officers for the support that they had provided during 
the previous year.

RESOLVED

That the Panel’s budget for 2019/20 be approved.

9 PANEL ARRANGEMENTS:  RULES OF PROCEDURE 

Consideration was given to a report relating to the re-adoption of the 
governance arrangements and Rules of Procedure for the Panel. It was 
considered good practice for the Panel to review and readopt its 
governance arrangements and Rules of Procedure annually. 

Mr Evan Morris and Councillor Dave Thompson sought clarification over 
the powers that the Panel had in relation to the suspension of a Chief 
Constable by the Police and Crime Commissioner. The Secretariat was 
asked to provide background information to Panel members on the status 
of and limitations to the Panel’s Procedure Rules.

Councillor Paul Findlow asked for clarification over the status of the Sub 
Committee that had been established late in 2018 to review the way in 
which the Panel managed complaints. The Chairman explained that the 
work of this Sub Committee had been delayed whilst the Panel undertook 
work in relation to the suspension of the former Chief Constable. Now that 
task was complete, the work of the Sub Committee would be programmed. 

RESOLVED:  That

1 the Panel adopt the Rules of Procedure for the 2019/20 Municipal 
year.

2 the Head of Democratic Services and Governance be authorised to 
make any changes during the year to the Rules of Procedure as he 
considers are necessary to give effect to the wishes of the Panel. 

10 ATTENDANCE AT THE EIGHTH ANNUAL CONFERENCE FOR POLICE 
AND CRIME PANELS 

Members of the Panel were asked to inform the Secretariat if they wished 
to attend the conference. 

RESOLVED

That five Panel members attend the conference.
11 CHANGING PATTERNS OF VIOLENT CRIME: THE IMPACT ON 

POLICY, POLICING AND DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION 



Evan Morris updated the Panel on his attendance at a national conference 
on changing patterns of violent crime.

12 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY OF THE POLICE AND CRIME 
COMMISSION 

The Chairman welcomed the Commissioner to the meeting. The 
Commissioner congratulated the Chairman and Deputy Chairman on their 
appointments.

The Commissioner congratulated Mr Tony Spruce, a PCSO on his award 
of a BEM is the Queen’s Birthday Honours. He also congratulated Mr Mark 
Watson, a retired Police Officer, who currently worked as a volunteer 
supporting Crime Beat who had been awarded an MBE. The Panel added 
their congratulations to those of the Commissioner. 

The Commissioner updated the Panel on a number of recent 
achievements by Cheshire Constabulary, including a major drugs related 
prosecution and an arrest in Malta of a suspect who had been wanted by 
the Constabulary for over 16 years in relation to murder. He also updated 
the Panel on the ongoing collaborative work with the Cheshire Fire and 
Rescue Service.  

The Commissioner informed the Panel that the issue of the Constabulary’s  
recruitment policies, especially as they relate to fairness, transparency and 
inclusivity had been discussed at the last Scrutiny Meeting, at which two 
members of the Panel has been attendance  He informed the Panel that 
he intended to hold a special Scrutiny meeting on this issue. This was 
likely to be held during the first two weeks of July and would be open to 
the public.

The Chairman sought the views of the Commissioner on senior Police 
Officers wearing distinctive rainbow lanyards supporting LGBT awareness. 
He asked whether this was consistent with the need for Police Officers to 
be seen to be independent. His question had in part been prompted by 
seeing the newly appointed Deputy Chief Constable wearing such a 
lanyard, which he saw as a political act and therefore in breach of Police 
Regulations. He also referred to a recent article in Police Insight magazine 
which had discussed this issue and the perceived erosion of Police 
independence.

The Commissioner responded by saying that the Deputy Chief Constable 
was the national lead on LGBT+ issues. He said that the wearing of 
rainbow lanyards was common practice, demonstrating support for the 
LGBT+ community and equality in general. Staff wearing such lanyards 
had his full support and he expressed concern at the question that the 
Chairman had asked. A number of Panel members expressed support for 
Police Officers who wore rainbow lanyards and other actions taken by the 
Constabulary to promote LGTB+ rights. They did not see such actions as 
being political.



Mr Morris noted that equalities had many strands to it. Whilst he saw it as 
important to support the LGTB+ community (and referred to work he had 
undertaken in this area when he was employed by the Cheshire Fire and 
Rescue Service), he saw it as important that all minorities were heard and 
received equal treatment. 

The Commissioner indicated that he supported both Chester Pride and 
Cheshire East’s Pride in the Park, which would be held in Crewe in July. 
He would be attending both events and invited Panel members to 
accompany him. 

Councillor Paul Findlow asked the Commissioner for his observations on 
the Panel’s report in relation to the suspension of the former Chief 
Constable. The Commissioner responded by saying that he had received 
a copy of the report on 28th May and would reply when he had reflected 
fully on the Panel’s findings and not later than a month after receipt.

Councillor Lynn Riley sought clarification from the Commissioner over how 
much of his time he had spent canvassing for his political party in the 
period running up to the local elections in early May, and whether he 
would publish his diary for the six-week period running up to those 
elections.

The Commissioner indicated that he would not answer questions as to 
what he did in his own private time, noting that whilst campaigning he had 
experienced serious invasions of his privacy, which he found totally 
unacceptable.   He told the Panel that he took his elected role very 
seriously, devoting a considerable amount of time to it, week in and week 
out. 

Councillor Riley asked how resources would be allocated to those areas of 
Cheshire that were experiencing rising crime rates. The Commissioner 
outlined his approach to resource allocation, encouraging communities to 
make bids to his Safer Communities Fund. He also highlighted the 
contribution that Proceeds of Crime funding could make across Cheshire.

Mr Bob Fousert raised the issue of the lack of information available on the 
Commissioner’s website about how he spent his time; an issue that he had 
raised at previous meetings. The Commissioner responded by saying that 
his office would shortly be getting a new website (as part of a national 
initiative “Single Online Home”) which would enable more information to be 
shared with the public in an easy to access form. 

The Commissioner noted that he had served as a Warrington Councillor 
since 1999 and that he would be standing down from that role  at the next 
election in 2020.
Councillor Mick Warren asked the Commissioner for clarification over his 
policy of one PCSO per community, especially in relation to cover 



arrangements for sickness and annual leave. He understood that in some 
areas there were no pool staff available to provide cover.

The Commissioner indicated that he had raised this issue with the Chief 
Constable and that he was satisfied that the necessary HR policies were in 
place to ensure that vacancies were filled. However, he did recognise that 
it was an area not without its challenges and that he would continue to 
monitor the situation.  He did indicate that Cheshire was seen as a leader 
nationally in relation to community policing.

Mrs Sally Hardwick congratulated the former Chief Constable, Simon 
Byrne on his appointment as Chief Constable of the Police Service of 
Northern Ireland (PSNI).

Mrs Hardwick indicated that she was still unhappy with the 
Commissioner’s complaints procedure, an issue over which she had taken 
an interest over a considerable period of time. She recognised that it 
would be some time before this could be resolved.

The Commissioner noted that this was a national issue, progress had 
been slower than he would have hoped, with Parliamentary time being 
spent on other issues. He noted that definitions of complaints were 
changing, which could create resource pressures. He offered to hold a 
workshop with the Panel before he decided on which model of complaints 
handling he would adopt. The changes were likely to have workload 
implications for the Police and Crime Panel. There was agreement that 
Mrs Hardwick would lead on this issue for the Panel.

Mrs Hardwick asked the Commissioner what was being done to follow up 
on the recommendations made by the Youth Commission, and also what 
steps were being made to involve harder to reach young people in the 
process.

The Commissioner outlined the way in which he engaged with young 
people, including the Youth Commission, which he had established. Whilst 
recognising that there was progress to make, he felt that the Commission 
was more representative than it had been. Stop and search and mental 
health had been amongst the issues raised by the Youth Commission. The 
Commissioner offered to provide further information on the work of the 
Commission and their recommendations.

Councillor David Thompson sought clarification on Community Safety 
funding across Cheshire. The Commissioner indicated that he would 
continue to fund Community Safety Partnerships, but that there would be 
greater coordination and a need to link outcomes to sub regional priorities. 
He noted that he was providing additional resources to fund a problem-
solving team to work with local authorities to focus on the greatest 
priorities. 

13 SCRUTINY ITEMS 



Councillor Paul Findlow sought clarification over how best the Panel 
should approach the issue of responding to the high volume of scrutiny 
papers available on the Commissioner’s website. The Secretariat was 
asked to produce a short discussion paper for consideration at the 
September meeting of the Panel.

14 WORK PROGRAMME 

The work programme was noted. The Panel noted that the membership 
and proportionality of the group that would review complaints would need 
to be reviewed following the elections.

The proposed dates of the informal meetings with the Commissioner were 
noted, the Secretariat were asked to approach the Commissioner with a 
view to moving the proposed August meet back to early September. Panel 
members suggested that future informal meetings consider performance 
data and joint working with the Fire and Rescue Service.

15 DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

The next regular meeting of the Police and Crime Panel was confirmed as 
being held on Friday 20th September at Runcorn Town Hall.

The meeting commenced at 2.00 pm and concluded at 4.25 pm

Mr B Fousert (Chairman)





Minutes of an extraordinary meeting of the 
Cheshire Police and Crime Panel

held on Friday, 5th July, 2019 at Council Chamber, Wyvern House, 
The Drumber, Winsford CW7 1AH

PRESENT

Councillors:

Cheshire East Councillors A Critchley, JP Findlow and 
D Murphy

Cheshire West and Chester Councillors R Bisset, A Dawson and 
M Delaney

Halton Councillors N Plumpton Walsh and 
D Thompson

Warrington Councillors J Davidson and B Maher

Officers Mr D Dickinson and Mr M Smith 
(Secretariat, Cheshire East Council)

16 APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Councillor Mick Warren, who was 
represented by Councillor Denis Murphy.

17 CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.  RELEVANT 
AUTHORITIES (DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS) 
REGULATIONS 2012 

There were no declarations of interest.

18 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

There were no members of the public present who wished to speak.

19 STATEMENT BY THE CHAIRMAN FOLLOWING QUESTIONS RAISED 
ABOUT SENIOR POLICE OFFICER IMPARTIALITY AT THE MEETING 
OF THE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL HELD ON 15TH JUNE 2019 

The Chairman made a detailed statement to the Panel, a copy of which is 
attached to these minutes.

Councillor Dave Thompson expressed sadness that the extraordinary 
meeting of the Panel had been necessary; but raised concerns that the 
Chairman had, when asking a question about the wearing of rainbow 



lanyards, attacked a senior Police Officer. He also indicated that he took 
exception to the Chairman’s use of the word “homosexual” in his response 
to an open letter from the Police and Crime Commissioner, seeing the 
word as implying derogatory connotations. As a consequence he wished 
the Chairman to stand down, but remain as a member of the Panel. He 
hoped that at some time in the future Mr Fousert could again become 
Chairman of the Panel.

 
Councillor Andrew Dawson, noted that he had not been able to attend the 
meeting on 15th June, but had subsequently watched the webcast of the 
meeting and also listened to an interview given by the Chairman to the 
BBC immediately following the meeting. He expressed the view that all 
Panel members should receive equality and diversity training. He 
referenced the Code of Conduct that the Police were required to observe, 
noting that there had possibly been a legitimate question for the Chairman 
to ask the Police and Crime Commissioner. He expressed concern that at 
the meeting on 15th June the Commissioner has failed to provide 
leadership, suggesting that he could, had he so wished sought clarification 
on the Chairman’s line of questioning. Councillor Martyn Delaney 
expressed concern that Councillor Dawson was being critical of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner who was not present.  

Councillor Norman Plumpton Walsh noted that the wearing of a lanyard 
was a minor, inconsequential issue when compared to the real everyday 
challenges faced by Cheshire Police Officers.

Mrs Sally Hardwick expressed concern that some elements of the media 
and public had politicised the issue. She also said that in her view the 
Chairman had not broken the Panel’s Procedure Rules and under the 
Human Rights Act had the freedom to express his views and opinions.

Councillor Dave Thompson moved a motion that the Panel members had 
no confidence in the Chairman and in accordance with the Panel’s Rules 
of Procedure should be removed from office.  The motion was seconded 
by Councillor Jan Davidson.  At this point the Chairmanship of the meeting 
was taken over by the Deputy Chair, Mr Evan Morris.

Councillor Paul Findlow expressed concern that the Panel was ceasing to 
operate in an apolitical way; noting that the Chairman had simply asked a 
question after reading an article in Policing Insight.

Mr Fousert expressed concern that the move to have him removed from 
the position of Chairman had been led by Labour Councillors and was 
therefore politically motivated. Councillor Anthony Critchley refuted this 
allegation, saying that his actions had been motivated by a genuine 
concern at the question asked by Mr Fousert at the meeting on 15th June. 

Councillor Rob Bisset noted that he had not been able to attend the 
meeting on 15 June, but that he was strongly of the view that wearing a 
rainbow lanyard was not a political act. He was concerned that the 



Chairman had indicated that he thought that the motion of no confidence 
against him was politically motivated.

RESOLVED:

By seven votes to five, with one abstention, that the Panel had no 
confidence in the Chairman, meaning that the Chairman was removed 
from office.   

Councillor Andrew Dawson moved a motion that all members of the Panel, 
together with the Secretariat (should they wish) and the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (should he wish) should receive equalities and diversity 
training.

There was discussion as to what would be the most appropriate form for 
training to take; with the view of the Panel  being  that it would be 
appropriate for training to be specifically designed to reflect the work of the 
Panel and its relationship with the Constabulary. 

RESOLVED: 

That all Panel members receive equalities and diversity training to which 
the Secretariat and Commissioner should be invited. All Panel members 
voted in favour of the motion.

Councillor Norman Plumpton Walsh proposed that Mr Evan Morris should 
be appointed as Chairman on the Panel. This was seconded by Councillor 
Rob Bissett. 

RESOLVED

That Mr Evan Morris be appointed as Chair for the remainder of the 
Municipal year. 

Councillor Jan Davidson proposed that Councillor Dave Thompson be 
appointed as Deputy Chairman, this was seconded by Councillor Norman 
Plumpton Walsh. 

Councillor Paul Findlow proposed that Councillor Andrew Dawson be 
appointed as Deputy Chairman, this was seconded by Mrs Sally Hardwick.

The nominations were put to the vote.



RESOLVED:

That Councillor Dave Thompson be appointed as Deputy Chair for the 
remainder of the Municipal year. 

The meeting commenced at 10.00 am and concluded at 11.20 am

Mr E  Morris (Chairman)



Statement by Mr Bob Fousert to the Police & Crime Panel 5th July 
2019

I called for this meeting to resolve this issue at the earliest opportunity. To 
do so I believe is in the best interest of the Panel and the Community.

Before asking for comments from the members I wish to make the 
following statement and that it be treated as a document of record.

Just prior to the meeting of 14th June I was asked to stand once again as 
your Chairman. I understood that it was felt by the members that, given the 
Labour majority and the fact that Cheshire has a Labour PCC, the Panel 
should be seen to be balanced. At the time I was pleased to hear Cllr 
Critchley state that he voted in favour of me as he had been told that as 
Chairman I was fair in my dealings. Members will perhaps forgive me if I 
say I was, therefore, surprised and just a little suspicious that this one 
incident has resulted in some Labour members calling for my resignation.

Inevitably some commentators are seeing this attack on what I and many 
others see as legitimate questioning, as an act of blatant political 
opportunism. With many believing that it is designed to deflect attention 
away from the Panel’s recent critical report on the PCC’s decision making, 
and specifically the costly and discredited disciplinary proceedings against 
the former Chief Constable.

As you are aware it is our responsibility to scrutinise and hold to account 
the PCC, and by logical extension how he holds the Constabulary to 
account. As such I believe strongly that, given our responsibility on behalf 
of the people of Cheshire for carrying out this remit, we must never shirk 
from asking what may be perceived as difficult questions. To avoid asking 
such questions is, in my opinion, a dereliction of our duty.

As I have previously stated in my open letter in response to that posted by 
the PCC, and a point I also made clear at the meeting, my question 
regarding the LGBT Ally lanyard worn by the Deputy CC was on the back 
of, and directly linked to, an earlier Agenda item. This item related to the 
Constabulary being the first in the country to have recently been found 
guilty of discrimination in its recruitment process.

An employment tribunal ordered the Constabulary to pay compensation to 
an applicant because it chose to recruit a less qualified candidate from a 
BME background. In other words, impartiality was put aside in order to 
favour one section of society over another.

You will recall, and it is a matter of record, that I also made reference to, 
and quoted from, Police Regulations 2003. I did so in order to make 
members aware of the requirement placed upon all police officers, 
irrespective of rank, to be impartial. Whether Panel members think such 



regulations are outdated is not the point – they exist and in my opinion 
they exist for very good reasons.

Also in setting the context for my question I referred to an article that had 
appeared in a recent edition of ‘Policing Insight’ – Pride before Impartiality 
- Quote “Police Regulations stipulates that an officer “shall at all times 
abstain from any activity which is likely to interfere with the impartial 
discharge of his duties.” The article also added: “The Regulations are 
there to protect the police from such questions {Impartiality].”

As I made clear at our last meeting, and I have repeatedly stated 
throughout this discussion, the issue I was raising was that of ‘police 
impartiality’. And specifically, whether or not the wearing of such a lanyard 
was appropriate. My question was not, and never was intended to be, an 
attack on the LGBT community. Those who say otherwise are 
misrepresenting the facts and my intention.

I also wish to make it crystal clear that at no time did I, as is alluded to in 
the PCC’s open letter, seek to have disciplinary action taken against the 
Deputy CC.  Such a claim is, to say the least, disingenuous.

Members will also be aware of the Equality Act 2010. This covers a whole 
raft of issues not just LGBT, i.e disability, gender pay gap, age, sex or 
discrimination on faith grounds and as such there is a requirement for the 
public sector  “to consider all individuals when carrying out their day to day 
work”.

Having spoken to several Cheshire police officers I am advised that the 
only adornment to their uniform that they are allowed to wear is LGBT 
related.

This raises the question: why can officers not wear the logos or badges of 
other organisations?

How are these decisions arrived at?

Why not the NSPCC (Cheshire has a significant CSE and CSA problem)? 
Why not Mencap (the arrest and custody of people with mental health 
issues is a big concern)? What about Age Concern/UK (we have a 
growing elderly population who are vulnerable to exploitation and an easy 
target for criminals)? Should we ignore Women’s Aid (Cheshire has a 
domestic abuse problem and the Constabulary’s record on solving rape 
cases appears to be sinking without trace)? Let us not forget Shelter (the 
homeless on the streets is an ever increasing problem). There are also 
many disability action groups worthy of mention praise and recognition. I 
could go on as there are so many other causes that can and should be 
supported.  Do not many of these fall under the ‘protected characteristics’ 
banner?



However, regardless of the merits of any cause or case I would still, in 
each and every case, question and challenge the appropriateness and the 
impartiality of police officers being allowed to, or required to, wear items in 
support of such organisations.

This view on the need for the police in uniform to be seen as impartial is 
not a unique or uncommon one. You will have seen that it has been 
supported by many who have responded to the open letters that have 
appeared in the media. The following comments illustrate this point:

“Their uniform should be enough to make anyone walk down a street 
comfortably and with confidence.”

“The only pride that police officers should be promoting is the pride they 
get from wearing the uniform, and for carrying out their role to serve the 
public to the best of their ability.”

“The police uniform should not be used to reveal any sympathy or 
allegiances to any social groups, in fact, the practice of police officers 
wearing insignia [or] lanyards should be banned as soon as possible.”

Surely, as Panel members we are also there to represent their views as 
well.

To my mind the whole issue can be summed up in the old mantra of 
‘policing without fear or favour’. An old concept, maybe, but one many 
believe is even more relevant today!

It is an unfortunate, even sad, fact of public life today that when someone 
makes an observation or comment with regards to LGBT issues they are 
often treated like heretics, to be vilified, pilloried and castigated. 
Fortunately there are still plenty of fair minded people out there. Some of 
them have said to me that they think that those attacking me are being 
hypocritical; they pontificate about diversity, inclusiveness and tolerance 
and then when it suits their aims they are totally intolerant in trying to limit 
the diversity and inclusiveness of any debate, opinion or even challenge.  
Is it disrespectful to disagree?

It must appear puzzling to many Cheshire residents that those now 
demanding my resignation have failed in the past to call for the PCC’s 
resignation when, on at least three occasions, he is regarded widely as 
having brought the office of PCC into disrepute, followed by calls from the 
public for him to resign. Why then when there was clear evidence of the 
PCC’s nepotism, cronyism and costly misjudgements (£0.5m to date), 
were they silent?

At the risk of being repetitious, given the circumstances, this attack on me 
is being seen as politically motivated and fuelled by a hypocritical and 
synthetic angst.



As a consequence, if I am to be removed because of this single issue, 
then surely the effect will be to severely erode the Panel’s credibility, 
independence, and its ability to hold the PCC to account.

Also, I would suggest that at a stroke it also destroys the reputation of the 
Panel – a hard won reputation – for impartiality, regardless of who the 
PCC is.

Let me finish by saying, once again, this was meant to be a straight 
forward question regarding police impartiality. The context was the recent 
public criticism of Cheshire Constabulary’s biased recruitment process. 
And, the article in Policing Insight that was sharing concerns about the 
same issue. It was not an attack on the LGBT community, nor individual 
police officers.

It is regrettable that a simple question has been grossly misrepresented by 
others, causing upset and offence.

For my part I will continue to offer my service as your chairman and to act 
– as I believe I have always done – in an impartial and even handed 
manner, free from any political motivation or interference.

I seek only the truth and the best interests of the residents of Cheshire.



OFFICIAL
1

    Cheshire Police and Crime Panel

Date of Meeting:  20th September 2019

Report of:  Brian Reed, Head of Governance and Democratic Services, 
Cheshire East Council

Subject:  Powers of the Panel in relation to the suspension / removal of the 
Chief Constable  
 

 1. Report Summary

1.1 This report has been written in response to request from Panel members for 
clarification in relation to their roles and responsibilities in relation to the 
suspension / removal of the Chief Constable.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That the report is noted.

3. Background information

3.1 At the meeting on 15th June 2019 a number of Panel members sought 
clarification over the powers that the Panel have in relation to the 
suspension and removal from office of a Chief Constable by the Police and 
Crime Commissioner. The Secretariat was asked to clarify the position. 

3.2 The Panel’s Procedure Rules (paragraphs 12.10.1 to 12.10.10) outline the 
legal position in relation to the suspension and removal of a Chief 
Constable. This section of the Procedure Rules is based on the detail of the 
relevant legislation; namely the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 
2011. 

3.3 In summary the Panel have no direct powers in relation to the suspension of 
a Chief Constable, but the legislation does ensure that the Panel will receive 
notification if the Police and Crime Commissioner suspend the Chief 
Constable. The Commissioner must also notify the Panel, in writing, of any 
proposal to call upon the Chief Constable to retire or resign. The 
Commissioner must also provide the Panel with the reasons given to the 
Chief Constable, together with any representations received from the Chief 
Constable.

3.4 If after considering representations from the Chief Constable the 
Commissioner is still proposing to call upon him/her to resign, the Panel 
must be notified and within six weeks the Panel must make a 
recommendation, in writing to the Commissioner, as to whether they should 



OFFICIAL

continue to call for the retirement or resignation. Before making any 
recommendation the Panel may consult the Chief Inspector of Constabulary 
and must hold a scrutiny meeting, this would be held in private and would 
provide the opportunity for both the Commissioner and Chief Constable to 
make representations.

3.5 The Commissioner may not call upon the Chief Constable to retire or resign 
until the end of the scrutiny process. The Commissioner may accept or 
reject the Panel’s recommendations.

4. Financial Implications 

4.1 There are no financial implications.

5. Equality implications

5.1 There are no specific equality issues related to this report.

6. Contact information

Name:  Martin Smith
Designation: Registration and Civic Services manager
Local Authority: Cheshire East Council
Tel. No.: 01270 686012
Email: martin.r.smith@cheshireeast.gov.uk



OFFICIAL
1

    Cheshire Police and Crime Panel

Date of Meeting:  20 September 2019

Report of:  Brian Reed, Head of Governance and Democratic Services, 
Cheshire East Council

Subject:  Presentation of Scrutiny Agendas and Papers

 
 1. Report Summary

1.1 This report outlines how information relating to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s Scrutiny Boards could be presented to Panel members. 

2. Recommendations

2.1 That the Panel determine how they wish to receive information relating to the 
Police and Crime Commissioner’s Scrutiny Boards.

3. Background information

3.1 At the meeting on 15th June 2019 the Secretariat was asked to produce a short 
discussion paper for consideration on how best the Panel should approach the 
issue of reviewing and noting the high volume of scrutiny papers available on 
the Commissioner’s website. 

3.2 During 2018/19 the Commissioner held five Scrutiny Boards (including one 
dedicated to discussing fox hunting). It would be unusual for the supporting 
papers to be less than 100 pages, for example the papers for the meeting held 
on 27th February 2019 amounted to 120 pages and those for the June meeting 
132 pages. 

3.3 Traditionally Police and Crime Panel agendas have included copies of Scrutiny 
Board papers for meetings that have been held since the Panel last met.  
Copying high volumes of papers is both expensive and potentially wasteful, and 
can make agenda packs bulky. Providing a link to the relevant page on the 
Commissioner’s website solves the issue of cost and potential waste, but does 
not provide a particularly easy way for papers to be read. Some papers need to 
be viewed in colour, which increases cost if they are printed.

3.4 A suggested way forward is:

 Include a copy of the agenda of Scrutiny Board meetings  (normally one or 
two pages) with Panel papers.



OFFICIAL

 The Secretariat produce a short (one or two paragraph) summary of each 
item; only including the item in full in exceptional cases or if a Panel 
member has asked for it to be included. 

 Provide a link to the papers on the Commissioner’s website on the Panel’s 
agenda.

3.5 The suggested approach is dependent on information being available on the 
Commissioner’s website.  It should be possible for any papers that are 
published on the Commissioner’s website two weeks in advance of a Panel 
meeting to be summarised in the way outlined above. 

3.6 The approach outlined above has been adopted by way of example for the 
Scrutiny Board meeting held on 5 June 2019 and is provided in Appendix 1. 
These papers were considered by the Panel at its last regular meeting.   

4. Financial Implications 

4.1 There are no financial implications.

5. Equality implications

5.1 There are no specific equality issues related to this report.

6. Contact information

Name:  Martin Smith
Designation: Registration and Civic Services manager
Local Authority: Cheshire East Council
Tel. No.: 01270 686012
Email: martin.r.smith@cheshireeast.gov.uk



OFFICIAL

Appendix 1

Scrutiny Board 5th June 2019

https://cheshire-pcc.gov.uk/media/199224/20190605-scrutiny-board-report-pack-
website.pdf

3. Action Plan Hunting 

Due to the sensitively of this issue a full extract is attached. [as this is being 
provided by way of example, the full extract is not attached] 

4. Cheshire Constabulary Custody: Continuous Improvement Plan

This item provides an update following HM Inspector of Prisons and HM 
Inspector of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services inspection held in 
September 2018.

5. Thematic: A Police Service connected with communities

This item summarises a range of information including:

 Community legitimacy and understanding
 A workforce representative of communities
 Visible Police Service in communities
 Engaging and responding to community needs
 Access to services
 Active citizenship
 Understandings local issues and problem solving

6. Police and Crime Plan – Performance Report

Detailed performance information is provided.

7. People and HR: Performance Report

This report provides information on:

 Workforce capacity
 Workforce capability
 Wellbeing and engagement
 Diversity and inclusion

8. Complaints

This report summaries complaints for the period 1 January 2019 to 31 March 
2019.

https://cheshire-pcc.gov.uk/media/199224/20190605-scrutiny-board-report-pack-website.pdf
https://cheshire-pcc.gov.uk/media/199224/20190605-scrutiny-board-report-pack-website.pdf




David Keane
Police & Crime Commissioner for Cheshire
ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19



PCC ANNUAL REPORT 2018/192

S
af
er

co
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
fo
r

th
e
w
h
o
le

o
fC

h
es
h
ir
e

I believe that policing
should be truly local and I’ll
continue to work with the
Chief Constable to put more
officers back in the heart of
our communities.



3@CheshirePCC

S
af
er

co
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
fo
r

th
e
w
h
o
le

o
fC

h
es
h
ir
eIntroduction 04 – 05

Police and crime plan 06

My year at a glance 07

Prevent crime and anti-social behaviour

Community policing model is a success 08

Safeguarding our rural communities 09

Partnership working to make our communities safer 10

Investing in community projects which reduce crime and anti-social behaviour 11

Apolice service connectedwith our communities

Providing a voice to young people through the Cheshire Youth Commission 12

Engaging with our communities to tackle hate crime 12

Celebrating our dedicated volunteers 13

Mini police - Cheshire Constabulary’s youngest recruits 13

Support victims and protect the vulnerable

Prioritising victim care 14 – 15

Highlighting the effects of domestic abuse 16

Supporting victims of stalking and sexual violence 17

Apolice service fit for the future

Local police funding for 2018/19 18 – 19

Investing in our police service 20 – 21

Performance

HMICFRS assessment of Cheshire’s Constabulary’s performance 22

Holding the Chief Constable to account 23

Contents



PCC ANNUAL REPORT 2018/194

S
af
er

co
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
fo
r

th
e
w
h
o
le

o
fC

h
es
h
ir
e

This year I was delighted to appoint Darren Martland

as the new Chief Constable for Cheshire.

Darren brings a wealth of dedication, passion and

experience to the role, having served with Cheshire

Police since 2017 and having held Chief Officer

positions in both Cumbria Constabulary and

Merseyside Police. He shares my vision to establish a

policing culture which promotes innovation, is

compassionate to both its residents and its staff and

seeks to make the most out of our highly valued

partnerships.

He has already made the role his own and has shown

his commitment to putting neighbourhood policing

at the forefront of everything he does by ensuring my

plan to put a Police Community Support Officer

(PCSO) and community police base in every

community in Cheshire is fully delivered. After I set

out the promise to put ‘more feet on the beat’, I have

delivered my vision for a PCSO and community base

in every one of our 122 communities in Cheshire that

are supported by local neighbourhood policing

teams. This initiative has made a huge difference in

increasing visibility and building assurance amongst

our communities at a time whenmany other police

services are cutting back on neighbourhood policing.

It has been another challenging year financially with

Central Government providing no extra funding for

policing in Cheshire in 2018/19. When the costs of

inflation and mandatory pay increases are taken into

account this is, yet again, another real-terms cut to

our policing budget. I have continued to make

efficiencies to back-office functions and continued to

drive forward our modernisation programme in order

to prioritise spend on frontline policing. This has

ensured Cheshire remains in the top 20 per cent of

police services nationally in terms of spend per head

on police officers and PCSOs.

Hello and welcome to my Annual Report for 2018/19. This is now
my fourth yearly review, which provides me with an opportunity to
share and reflect on the key achievements and challenges over the
past 12 months.

I have also continued to ensure my office remains one

of the lowest costing Police and Crime Commissioner

offices in the country. This has included a realignment

of my support team to ensure it offers the best value

for money for Cheshire taxpayers whilst still

supporting me in my functions to hold the Chief

Constable to account and set the policing priorities.

Furthermore, my expenses have remained at the

lowest possible level and despite inflation, I am still

spending 68 per cent less than the previous

Commissioner on essential travel away from the office.

Putting victims of crime first has remained a top

priority and this year I have invested in a number of

initiatives to offer increased support to victims

recovering from their ordeal. This has included

funding new projects which specifically support

younger victims of crime and launching a new service

Introduction

£0

£1000

£2000

£3000

£4000

£5000

Commissioner expenses

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

£4
,0
38

.0
3

£2
,2
34
.5
0

£1
,2
46

.3
0

£1
,2
76

.7
6



5@CheshirePCC

S
af
er

co
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
fo
r

th
e
w
h
o
le

o
fC

h
es
h
ir
e

for domestic abuse victims and working with partners

to improve our support for victims of sexual violence

This year has also very much been about listening to

your views and campaigning for the issues which

matter most to Cheshire residents. I commissioned an

independent review into the policing of hunting in

Cheshire following contact from a number of local

residents and public representatives who were

concerned that Cheshire Constabulary was not

effective in its policing of illegal hunting and related

offences. This review involved local residents from the

start, consulting with both the anti-hunt and hunt

communities as well as local businesses. I also

provided the opportunity for residents to attend a

public meeting to discuss the outcomes of the review.

The review highlighted a need for legislative change

and this is something I hope to progress through

parliament through our local MPs.

After hearing local residents were seriously concerned

about Government plans to house convicted sex

offenders in an open prison in Warrington, I took

action, calling on the Minister to reverse the decision.

I brought together key stakeholders to collectively

respond to the Government and make them aware of

the negative impact of these plans on the

community. This led to a reversal of the decision by

the Ministry of Justice. As a listening and

campaigning Commissioner, I will continue to press

the Government and fight for the issues which you

believe in.

I’m proud to be your Commissioner and a real

highlight for me is that I have had the pleasure of

meeting so many residents across the county over the

last year and listening to their priorities for policing

which are always reflected in the decisions I make. It

is my job to be your voice and represent you to ensure

Cheshire remains a safe place to live, work and visit.

David Keane
POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR CHESHIRE



PCC ANNUAL REPORT 2018/196

S
af
er

co
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
fo
r

th
e
w
h
o
le

o
fC

h
es
h
ir
e

Cheshire’s Police and Crime Plan underpins
howCheshire Constabulary focuses its
resources and concentrates its work. It
consists of four key priorities:

Prevent crime
and anti-social
behaviour

A service
connectedwith
our communities

Support victims
and project the
vulnerable

A police
service fit for
the future

Police and crime plan

One of the statutory responsibilities of Police and Crime
Commissioners is to produce a Police and Crime Plan. Police and
Crime Plans are the result of consultation with local residents and
key stakeholders, which ensures they have a ‘voice’ in setting local
policing priorities.

The role of the Police
and Crime Panel
In order to promote openness and transparency,

my work is scrutinised by the Cheshire Police and

Crime Panel. The Panel ensures I am delivering

against the objectives set in my Police and Crime

Plan and that I am effectively holding the Chief

Constable to account and scrutinising Cheshire

Constabulary.

The Panel is made up of cross-party local

councillors and independent members with an

interest in policing and crime. They hold quarterly

public meetings which they invite me to attend

to answer any questions they may have about my

work. They are also responsible for addressing any

complaints made against me. The roles and

responsibilities of the Police and Crime Panel are

set out in the Police Reform and Social

Responsibility Act 2011. You can find more

information on the Panel here:

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/

council_and_democracy/your_

council/cheshire-police-and-crime-

panel.aspx



7@CheshirePCC

S
af
er

co
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
fo
r

th
e
w
h
o
le

o
fC

h
es
h
ir
e

Quarter 1 - 2018
✔ Opened our first official police community bases across the county to put officers and PCSOs back into the heart of our

communities

✔ Funded the roll-out of body worn video for every police officer in Cheshire to provide better protection and an increased chance
of prosecution

✔ Supported a report by Cheshire’s Youth Commission which outlines young people’s policing priorities to key decision makers in
the criminal justice sector

✔ Backed a campaign for a new law to be introduced to make attacking police service animals a crime

✔ Commissioned a review into the policing of illegal hunting in Cheshire

✔ Unveiled the region’s first ever Integrated Anti-Stalking Unit with Cheshire Police and North West Boroughs Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust

✔ Re-launched my Safer Communities Fund, increasing the overall grant amount to £100K to support even more vital projects

✔ Joined forces with Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service to fund our first ever drone to assist with specialist incidents

✔ Launched a consultation on rural crime to give residents their say on how crime affects the countryside

✔ Celebrated our dedicated volunteers at an annual appreciation event

✔ Welcomed Cheshire’s first-ever Mini Police officers on board to help tackle issues in their local area

Quarter 2 - 2018
✔ Lobbied the Government which resulted in a reversal of its decision to house sex offenders in an open prison in Warrington

✔ Launched the Open the Door campaign with Cheshire’s four local authorities to reduce the stigma of domestic abuse

✔ Increased support for victims of crime by launching a new fund which priorities young victims

✔ Praised Cheshire Constabulary for being awarded Disability Confident ‘Leader’ status – the highest status an organisation can
achieve

✔ Remembered victims of honour-based violence, including Warrington teenager Shafilea Ahmed, as part of a national day of
memory

✔ Supported a campaign to reduce the number of serious and fatal motorcycle collisions on our roads

✔ Welcomed a U-turn on government plans to limit funding for supporting housing for vulnerable people

✔ Commended Cheshire Constabulary for their work to take £20 million worth of drugs off Cheshire’s streets during a motorway
seizure

✔ Appointed a new Head of Finance and Operations to oversee the police budget

✔ Commemorated those who lost their lives on Cheshire’s roads as part of National Road Victims Month

✔ Signed a national agreement with two other police forces and the Suzy Lamplugh Trust to commit to using innovative methods
to tackle stalking

Quarter 3 - 2018
✔ Consulted Cheshire residents on a new rural and wildlife crime strategy

✔ Joined other Police and Crime Commissioners in a powerful anti-hate campaign

✔ Called on our local MPs to press the Government to provide fairer funding for police in Cheshire

✔ Welcomed a report by HMICFRS which rated Cheshire’s crime data recording at ‘outstanding’

✔ Awarded funding to four organisations who specifically support young victims of crime in Cheshire

✔ Brought partners together to raise awareness of the work in Cheshire to tackle domestic abuse

✔ Supported a campaign urging motorists to not drink or drug drive during the festive period

✔ Made public the review of the policing of illegal hunting in Cheshire

✔ Welcomed a new national strategy to make police forces more diverse

✔ Responded to a HMICFRS report on policing and mental health to express my concerns about the impact of cuts to other public
services on policing

✔ Took part in a Q&A session with our Mini Police officers to commit to tackling issues which matter to them

✔ Asked Cheshire residents to make a resolution to speak out about domestic abuse

Quarter 4 - 2019
✔ Appointed Darren Martland as Cheshire Constabulary’s new Chief Constable

✔ Launched a public consultation to ask Cheshire residents about their priorities for police funding in 2019/20

✔ Announced funding for 43 more frontline police officers and 7 PCSOs as part of 2019/20 budget

✔ Held a public scrutiny meeting to discuss the policing of hunting in Cheshire

✔ Celebrated Cheshire Constabulary being named the top police service for LGBT equality for the second year running

✔ Supported the installation of new road safety cameras which detect motorists breaking the speed limit at junctions

✔ Joined Crimestoppers to launch a campaign to highlight the dangers of County Lines drug operations

✔ Facilitated a victims consultation to shape the future of sexual violence support services

✔ Called for motorists to take more care on Cheshire’s roads following an increase in fatal collisions

✔ Supported a national campaign to tackle knife crime

✔ Welcomed a report by HMICFRS and HMIP which rated Cheshire’s custody suites as ‘good’

A
P
R
|M

AY
|J
U
N

JU
L
|A

U
G
|S
EP

O
C
T
|N

O
V
|D

EC
JA

N
|F
EB

|M
A
R

My year at a glance



PCC ANNUAL REPORT 2018/198

P
re
ve
n
t
cr
im

e
an

d
an

ti
-s
o
ci
al

b
eh

av
io
u
r

The scheme I introduced to designate a PCSO and provide a
police base in every community across the county means
Cheshire Constabulary, unlike many other forces, is investing
in neighbourhood policing.

Recent reports in the media have stated that some forces have shut half of

their local police stations in the last eight years which is reducing the

amount of time officers spend in local communities. But in Cheshire, 122

police community bases have opened as part of a key commitment in my

Police and Crime Plan to deliver a visible police service.

The new bases are housed in existing community buildings, such as libraries

and community centres, and provide facilities for PCSOs and officers to hold

regular surgeries or have confidential discussions with victims, witnesses

and other members of the public. PCSOs are now able to begin and end

their daily shift at a local community base, increasing the amount of time

they have to meet local residents and deal with local issues.

In a challenging financial climate where we’ve seen police funding cut year-

on-year, this model of sharing existing public buildings is allowing us to

increase the presence of officers in communities at no extra cost to the

taxpayer.

Since we started the roll out of the new community bases across Cheshire

in summer 2018, we’ve seen police interaction and visibility increase,

which is building assurance in our communities.

I believe that policing should be truly local and community focused and

I’ll continue to work with the Chief Constable to put more officers back

where they belong, in the heart of our communities.

The future is around working with our partners in the Fire Service and

other community organisations to share buildings and running costs and

look at ways that we can work jointly to better police our communities.

Your
community
bases...

Libraries

Cafes
Leisure
centres

Sports
clubs

Fire
stations

Community
centres

Community policing model
is a success



9@CheshirePCC

P
re
ve
n
t
cr
im

e
an

d
an

ti
-s
o
ci
al

b
eh

av
io
u
rHunting

– holding the Constabulary
to account

During 2018/19, I commissioned an
independent review into the policing of illegal
hunting in Cheshire following concerns raised
by local residents and public representatives in
relation to the effectiveness of Cheshire
Constabulary in this area. The review was
conducted over a number of months and it
spoke to representatives from both the pro and
anti-hunt communities, as well as local
businesses. Whilst the review found that
Cheshire Constabulary is seen to be effective in
how it deals with some elements of hunting, it
outlined 11 clear recommendations for the
Constabulary to consider to improve its
relationship with both the pro and anti-hunting
communities.

As part of my role to scrutinise the
Constabulary, I held a meeting in public to
discuss these recommendations and
subsequently, I have asked the Constabulary to
develop an action plan to ensure they are fully
implemented. The review was also frank in its
findings that the current legislation in the way it
is drafted presents challenges to investigators
and prosecutors. As such, I have been working
with Cheshire MPs to explore how legislative
change can be progressed through parliament.

Safeguarding our rural communities

In November 2018, I published Cheshire’s latest
Rural and Wildlife Policing Strategy which
outlined how we will tackle these crimes. The
strategy was developed in response to the local
and national rural crime surveys and following
extensive feedback from Cheshire residents as
part of a consultation on rural crime that I ran
throughout summer 2018.

It sets out a real commitment to supporting rural

communities. Many of the crimes which occur in rural

areas are unique and can have a major impact on not

only their victims but their livelihoods as well.

In the strategy, I set out five commitments to tackle rural

and wildlife crime. They are:

To provide a dedicated PCSO for all of Cheshire's rural

communities and ensure every PCSO is trained in

tackling rural issues.

To ensure every major rural event is attended by

specialist rural officers, that PCSOs visit all farming

premises in the county on at least an annual basis

and that each rural community is supported by two

nights of enforcement per year.

To ensure all of Cheshire's rural communities has a

dedicated Rural Watch scheme in place to prevent

rural and wildlife crime

Tackle rural road safety issues.

To work with neighbouring forces and partners to

target those who commit rural crime in Cheshire.

Whilst our rural areas are relatively safe already, I am

confident that the priorities outlined in this strategy

demonstrate our commitment to our rural communities

and will make them even safer.

1

2

3

4

5



invested in
partnership
projects

More than

£1m

PCC ANNUAL REPORT 2018/1910

P
re
ve
n
t
cr
im

e
an

d
an

ti
-s
o
ci
al

b
eh

av
io
u
r

Over the last year, the Community

Safety Fund has also supported a

number of tailored projects which

tackle issues rife in our communities

including substance misuse,

domestic abuse and mental health.

Better outcomes forwomen in Cheshire
As Chair of Cheshire’s Criminal Justice Board, I have driven forward

the need to tackle the cycle of offending amongst women, as this

can have such an adverse impact on communities, female

offenders and especially their families. As part of this work, an

established task and finish group chaired by the National Probation

Service has been formed to refocus our criminal justice system to

improve outcomes for women who offend and women who are

vulnerable to offending. The strategy is to create and grow women’s

centres in Cheshire, building on existing services provided by

charities such as Cheshire Without Abuse. I have invested more

than £100,000 from the 2018/19 Community Safety Fund into the

project, which has enabled a further £30,000 of investment to be

released from the National Probation Service. The first phase of the

project will be completed within the next year with women’s

centres established in Crewe, Macclesfield and Warrington and

further exploratory work undertaken with partners in all other areas

of the county.

Providing alternative pathways
for young offenders
Through the Community Safety Fund, I supported the Divert

scheme, which works with children and young people arrested by

the police for less serious offences. The strapline for Divert is

“prevention is better than court”. The project aims to ensure that

children with previously un-met health and special educational

needs or other vulnerabilities, which may have contributed to them

coming into contact with police, are diverted away from the formal

criminal justice system and receive the help and treatment they

need to prevent them from becoming persistent or serious

offenders.

I work very closely with Cheshire’s four local authorities and
other public and third-sector groups to ensure our
communities remain safe by working to prevent crime and
anti-social behaviour and reduce reoffending.

Each year, I provide funding through my Community Safety
Fund to Cheshire’s four Community Safety Partnerships in
Cheshire East, Cheshire West and Chester, Halton and
Warrington to allow them to support crime prevention
projects in their local area. Each grant is closely monitored
through an effective performance management
framework to ensure it's meeting the outcomes set and to
informmy approach to future commissioning.

Partnership working to make
our communities safer

Examples of services
funded by Community

Safety Fund

£100,000+
invested in delivering
better outcomes for
women in contact
with the criminal
justice system

£198,000
to support Cheshire
Youth Justice Service

£100,000+
for substance
misuse services

£26,000
to provide mental
health triage during

999 call-outs



11@CheshirePCC

P
re
ve
n
t
cr
im

e
an

d
an

ti
-s
o
ci
al

b
eh

av
io
u
r

This year, I was able to increase the
investment into my Safer Communities Fund
by redirecting funding frommy existing
commissioning budget to support even more
community organisations. In 2018/19, £100K
was invested into grassroots projects that
support community safety and prevent crime.

The projects benefitting from the Safer Communities

Fund include those that support victims, protect

vulnerable people, tackle anti-social behaviour or drug

issues, improve road safety or promote a safe night time

economy.

The grants importantly empower local people to make

their communities safer places to live. Community

groups are able to bid for up-to £5,000 to get their

projects off the ground in order to work towards longer-

term sustainability.

Those who apply for a Safer Communities grant are

encouraged to work closely with their local PCSO to

ensure their project tackles the issues in their

individual communities. This year, it’s been clear to

see the positive effect my project to designate a

PCSO to every community in Cheshire is having on

the Safer Communities Fund, with even more

collaboration between PCSOs and local residents on

crime prevention projects.

Over the last 12 months, I have awarded Safer

Communities funding to 36 community organisations

across Cheshire, all of whom are already working

tirelessly to make their communities safer places to live.

Examples of
projects funded...

Investing in community
projects which reduce crime
and anti-social behaviour

Holmes
Chapel Boxing

Club
to support a project
reducing anti-social

behaviour

Cheshire
Without Abuse

to support a
domestic abuse
survivor group to
develop films

Central
Cheshire

Buddies Scheme
to deliver a project to
help disabled adults

stay safe

Age Concern
Mid-Mersey

to deliver a project
which deals with
county lines and

hate crime

Queensberry
Alternative
Provision

to run a programme
which tackles knife

crime

Runcorn
Shopping City
to furnish the
new Runcorn
Youth Zone

Warrington
Armed Forces

Hub
to support a veterans’
project which helps
alleviate depression

and social
isolation

Cheshire
AutismPractical

Support
to roll-out a card
which flags an

individuals’ diagnosis
to the emergency

services



PCC ANNUAL REPORT 2018/1912

A
p
o
lic
e
se
rv
ic
e
co

n
n
ec

te
d

w
it
h
o
u
r
co

m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

The Cheshire Youth Commission has once again
done a fantastic job ensuring young people
across Cheshire are represented in the key
decisions made in policing and the criminal
justice sector.

In 2018/19, the Youth Commission consulted more young

people than ever through their ‘Big Conservation’

consultation, with more than 2,000 voices heard. The Youth

Commission did a fantastic job of capturing as many views

as possible from our diverse communities.

Through this consultation, they were able to identify six

priority areas for 14-25 year-olds in Cheshire for the police

and partners to focus on. These priorities were:

● Unhealthy relationships

● Mental health

● Staying safe online

● Substance abuse

● Hate crime and diversity

● Policing and young people

Using feedback from the consultation, the Youth

Commission produced a report for senior leaders to

consider how they can improve their services to ensure they

are relevant and accessible to young people across Cheshire.

Over the next year, I’ll be working with the Chief Constable

and other key partners to ensure the issues highlighted in

this report are addressed and we improve the services we

deliver to young people across Cheshire.

Providing a voice to young people
through the Cheshire Youth
Commission

Engagingwith our
communities to tackle
hate crime
I attended a number of diverse

community events across Cheshire to talk

to local residents about their policing

priorities. This included Warrington Mela,

the Cheshire Show, Chester Pride and

Pride Picnic in the Park at Tatton Park.

With hate crime on the raise in Cheshire

and a report released by HMICFS claiming

that police are taking too long to respond

to reported hate crime, my team and I

talked to victims of hate crime to find out

their experiences of the police. I will

ensure Cheshire Constabulary acts upon

these findings.



13@CheshirePCC

A
p
o
lic
e
se
rv
ic
e
co

n
n
ec

te
d

w
it
h
o
u
r
co

m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

I am supported by a number of dedicated
volunteers that work with me to help
ensure Cheshire residents receive an
efficient and effective police service. All of
the volunteer roles are independent from
Cheshire Constabulary and are there to
ensure the police force treats people, and
animals, in the right way.

The roles include:

● Independent custody visitors

● Front desk auditors

● Police dog welfare visitors

● Call management auditors

● Independent observers of protests and

demonstrations

This year, I was proud to bring the highly
successful ‘Mini Police’ programme to
Cheshire. The project is a fun and interactive
volunteering opportunity for nine to 11-year-
old children that sees them working in their
local community to support the police
priorities and engage with the community.

In June 2018, I launched Cheshire’s first Mini Police

programme with children from Holy Spirit Primary

School in Runcorn. The Mini Police officers were

sworn into their roles at an official ceremony attended

by local elected representatives and were issued with

a police uniform, based loosely on a regular officers’

uniform, to help them feel part of the police family.

Between April 2018 and March 2019,

my 23 volunteers made 168 unique visits to

custody suites, police station front desks, police

kennels and protests or demonstrations and spent

16 hours listening to police 999 and 101 calls.

These volunteers act as ‘critical friends’ providing

me with invaluable feedback on how Cheshire

Constabulary is performing from an independent,

impartial and non-discriminatory view of all parties

involved in the above functions.

I am incredibly proud of the work my volunteers

have carried out over the last year, selflessly giving

up their time to support my role to scrutinise the

Constabulary. They play an extremely important

role, informing me whether the Constabulary is

upholding the high standards I expect from them.

Quite frankly, I wouldn’t be able to do my job

without them.

Over the last 12 months, the year 6 children have been

working with local officers on tackling three key

priorities for their community; protecting the local

environment, helping vulnerable people in the

community and road safety. They have taken part in

litter picks, delivered food to the local food bank to

support hundreds of families in the area and taken

part in speed check exercises.

The Mini Police scheme is a great engagement tool

which provides school children with some fantastic

opportunities to make their communities stronger,

whilst giving them a positive experience of policing.

Next year, I have plans to roll-out the Mini Police

programme to even more areas of Cheshire.

Mini Police - Cheshire Constabulary’s youngest recruits

Celebrating our dedicated volunteers 23
ACTIVE

VOLUNTEERS



PCC ANNUAL REPORT 2018/1914

S
u
p
p
o
rt
vi
ct
im

s
an

d
p
ro
te
ct

th
e
vu

ln
er
ab

le

£204,667
to support

domestic abuse
partnerships

across Cheshire

£27,807
to provide a

bespoke service
for child sexual
abuse victims

£25,000
to reduce the
risk of criminal
and sexual
exploitation

£9,468
to support
victims of

disability hate
crime

£25,000
to support young
victims of crime
and bullying

£20,000
to tackle
modern
slavery

Examples of victims’ projects funded...

It is one of my key priorities as Commissioner to put victims at the heart of everything I do
and this includes funding support services which help victims of crime cope and recover
from their ordeal. Police & Crime Commissioners receive an annual grant from the Ministry
of Justice to ensure victims’ services in their area are properly funded. In 2018/19, I
committed £1.2 million of my budget to fund victims’ services. This included support for
Cheshire CARES, the flagship service which offers support to every single victim of crime in
Cheshire, and also bespoke services which support victims of specific crimes.

Supporting Victims Fund
This year, I increased my support for young victims of crime by awarding

grants to organisations that deliver services which specifically target

younger victims. I launched the Supporting Victims Fund following a needs

assessment completed by my office which identified that services for

young victims of crime were underfunded locally. I then redirected

£160,000 of funding from the annual grant from the Ministry of Justice to

allow organisations which support underrepresented groups to directly

apply to that fund for the first time.

The following organisations were successful in their funding bids:

● The NSPCC – to support children exposed to trauma who could become victims of sexual abuse

● YoungAddaction – to raise awareness of the dangers of criminal and sexual exploitation

● Remedi – to deliver the ‘Got Your Back’ service in Cheshire supporting victims under the age of 18, particularly

victims of bullying

● Warrington Youth Club – to support young victims of disability hate crime

These 12-month pilot programmes have already supported hundreds of young victims across Cheshire and are

developing approaches which can be incorporated across the county.

Prioritising victim care



15@CheshirePCC

S
u
p
p
o
rt
vi
ct
im

s
an

d
p
ro
te
ct

th
e
vu

ln
er
ab

le

Cheshire CARES – the service I commission to support all victims in Cheshire –

hit the milestone of supporting more than 50,000 victims between April 2018

and March 2019. This included offering bespoke support to more than 20,000

victims of serious crimes such as domestic abuse, sexual assault or hate crime.

Victim Care Officers from Cheshire CARES support each victim through a

detailed needs assessment and then agree a recovery plan, calling on

specialist services as required. This case study is an example of how Cheshire

CARES is helping victims rebuild their lives following their ordeal.

CASE STUDY
“I was offered support by Cheshire CARES after being subjected to ongoing
emotional and verbal abuse bymy husband. With regular support from the
team, I finally found the courage tomove out of our home. I now finally feel
confident enough to live alone and knowing Cheshire CARES are there to talk
to has had a hugely positive impact onmy life.”

I commission Remedi to deliver victim led

restorative justice in Cheshire and the

under 18s Got Your Back victims service. In

2018/19, it supported 259 victims and offenders to repair harm and

find a positive way forward through restorative justice. This gave

victims the opportunity to question why the offence took place and

also challenge the offender to face up to the personal impact of

their crime. Remedi guides hundreds of victims and offenders

through the restorative justice (RJ) process each year, including

those like Sam* and Kim*, detailed in the following case study. Kim

was the victim of an armed robbery committed by Sam in the shop

where she worked. They both live in the same community.

*Names have been changed to protect identities.

CASE STUDY:
Kim said: “I could see from themeeting that Samwas genuinely
sorry, his responses were genuine. I thanked him for his apology
and I’m glad he’s taking steps towards a drug and offence free
future. I feel a lot better having taken part in RJ; my friends say
they’ve seen a notable improvement in my confidence. I will now
be able tomove on havingmet Sam and I won’t be fearful about
‘bumping’ into him in the community.”

Sam said: “My sentence wasn’t the end; somethingmore had to be
done so I took part in RJ. Seeing it from Kim’s side will stopme
reoffending, I now know
about the impact. I was
into drink and drugs but
now I feel restored. I feel
more respectable rather
than the horrible man
my community sawme
to be.”

I commission RASASC to

provide aftercare services for

victims of sexual violence across

Cheshire. RASASC supports people

who have experienced any form of sexual

violence, including rape, child sexual

abuse, sexual assault and sexual

exploitation. It provides vital specialist

counselling, an independent sexual

advisor service, an information line, drop-

in services and support groups from

community based locations across

Cheshire. In 2018/19, RASASCmanaged

1,356 victim referrals as well as 143

information line contacts for advice or

signposting.

CASE STUDY
“I was referred to RASASC by a police
officer after reporting incidents of rape,
assault and coercive behaviour by an ex-
partner. They supportedme through
counselling, helpedme relocate away
from the perpetrator and also supported
me to give evidence at his trial, which
led to a conviction. Their support has
also givenme the confidence and
inspiredme to enrol on a counselling
diploma course and volunteer locally.”

Bespoke support for every victim in Cheshire

Supporting victims
and offenders to
move forward

Aftercare
for victims
of sexual
violence

51,076
victims

supported

Supporting
more than

1,300
sexual abuse

victims

Helping

259
victims and
offenders to
rebuild their

lives



PCC ANNUAL REPORT 2018/1916

S
u
p
p
o
rt
vi
ct
im

s
an

d
p
ro
je
ct

th
e
vu

ln
er
ab

le

Opening the door
to reduce stigma
As part of my commitment to tackling domestic

abuse, I spearheaded a new initiative that changes

attitudes and behaviour associated with domestic

abuse. The Open the Door campaign aims to bring

domestic abuse out into the open by starting a

conversation and removing the stigma of it being a

hidden issue. The campaign is a collaboration

between my office, Cheshire Police and the four local

authorities in Cheshire. It is the first time we have all

joined forces to provide information for residents

around what help and support is available to them

locally. The county-wide resource promotes self-help

and early intervention, aiming to equip people with

the tools to feel safe and confident in having a

conversation about domestic abuse – whether it's

their situation or someone else they are worried

about. More information can be found at

www.openthedoorcheshire.org.uk

Event to highlight thework
being carried out in Cheshire
To celebrate this year’s White Ribbon Day, I brought

together organisations across Cheshire to highlight

how domestic abuse can affect anyone in our

society. Representatives from Cheshire Without

Abuse, LGBT+ charity Body Positive, Cheshire’s

Integrated Anti-Stalking Unit, restorative justice

service Remedi and domestic abuse teams from

Cheshire’s local authorities showcased the work they

do to support victims of domestic abuse and

manage the risks caused by perpetrators. They

highlighted the effects of domestic abuse on all

genders, families, older people and the LGBT+

community. Anyone can be a victim of domestic

abuse irrespective of their gender or personal

characteristics and there is a higher prevalence of

abuse among vulnerable people. As a representative

for victims of crime and vulnerable people across

Cheshire, I stand together with all the organisations

that work hard to support victims of domestic abuse

and manage the risks caused by perpetrators to

stamp-out this issue in society.

Highlighting
the effects of
domestic abuse



17@CheshirePCC

S
u
p
p
o
rt
vi
ct
im

s
an

d
p
ro
je
ct

th
e
vu

ln
er
ab

le

Supporting victims of
stalking and sexual violence

Tackling stalking
at its root-cause
The region’s first Integrated Anti-Stalking

Unit (IASU) was launched in Cheshire in

June 2018 and in its first 10 months, it

managed 260 referrals. The unit was set-up

thanks to a successful funding bid I

submitted to the Police Transformation

Fund to work with other forces and anti-

stalking charity, Suzy Lamplugh Trust, to

carry out innovative work to support victims

of stalking. The unit is run by Cheshire Police

in partnership with North West Boroughs

Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust. It offers

victims one-to-one support while working

closely with the perpetrator to ultimately

manage the risk of further harm to the

victim and the wider community. Of the

referrals, 83 were taken on by the unit for

further risk management – which has

included direct contact with the victim or

the offender. Partners have worked together

on the other 177 cases to ensure they are

effectively investigated andmanaged.

Improving services for
sexual violence victims
I was successful in my bid to NHS England to bring

£65,000 of funding to Cheshire to support work with

partners to build on and improve existing aftercare

services for victims of sexual violence (SV). The funding

facilitated an independent review of current service

provision, which included a consultation with SV

victims and service providers across Cheshire to identify

any gaps or cross-over in services with the results used

to determine how to simplify the referral route for

victims. The consultation identified a gap in the

knowledge of frontline workers responding to SV

incidents. In response to this finding, training packages

and bitesize videos will be produced which educate

frontline staff on the incidents they might face. Next

year, I will also hold an event with key partners in the

sector to explore future aftercare opportunities and

ideas for service enhancement.

I am committed to putting victims
first and ensuring that our local victim
services offer the right type of support
to give victims of crime the confidence
to seek help when they need it.



PCC ANNUAL REPORT 2018/1918

A
p
o
lic
e
se
rv
ic
e

fi
t
fo
r
th
e
fu
tu
re Local police funding is continuing to feel the brunt of severe

Central Government cuts with yet another year-on-year real
terms decrease in funding in 2018/19. Despite making more
than £62 million of savings since 2010, I have serious concerns
about Cheshire Constabulary’s financial position and the
pressure it’s under with the complexity of crime increasing
and resources diminishing. Policing within our communities
is becoming increasingly diverse and complex, which
requires a more sophisticated response from officers.

I have allocated funding to deal with these issues by re-directing officers to

priority areas but we still need more funding to be able to deliver an effective police service. The Government’s

answer to this is to put pressure on the local taxpayer by plugging the funding gap with an increase to the

policing precept. This is something I am not comfortable with as I believe policing should be fully funded by

Central Government. I have continued to press the Government this year to provide a fairer funding settlement

for local police forces to ensure we can continue to keep our communities safe and I hope this lobbying is

reflected in the next police funding settlement Cheshire receives.

Local police funding in 2018/19

Police budget
Once again, the Government delivered Cheshire

Constabulary a real-terms funding cut in 2018/19,

effectively leaving us with £5 million shortfall in

funding. This was on top of the 37 per cent real-terms

cut in Central Government funding since 2010. To

address this shortfall in funding, the Government

asked Police and Crime Commissioners to consult

with local residents on increasing the policing

element of council tax. It is imperative that any

decision on force funding is truly reflective of the

feelings of residents and businesses in Cheshire;

therefore, I launched a county-wide consultation

which attracted an unprecedented level of response.

An overwhelming 77 per cent of respondents to the

consultation supported a 7.3 per cent increase to the

precept, which equates to £1 a month for the average

Band D household, still making it one of the lowest

police precepts nationally. The precept provided an

extra £65m of funding, enabling me to set a budget

which keeps our communities safe and delivers the

promises made in my Police and Crime Plan.

Despite the increase to the precept, the cost of

inflation meant I had to find savings of £2.8m in

2018/19. To do this I implemented a priority based

budgeting process, analysing every pound spent on

policing in Cheshire, in order to protect front-line

resources and make back office functions more

efficient. My office has also been subject to the same

stringent cost review and in 2018/19, I managed to

reduce my office budget back to the same level as

2015/16, despite an increase in annual pay inflation of

2% for 2018/19. My office costs are just 0.39% of the

overall Cheshire Constabulary budget – one of the

lowest running costs of any Police and Crime

Commissioner office nationally.

£100m

£105m

£110m

£115m

£120m

£125m

Central Government funding

£1
23
m

£1
16
m

£1
18
m

£1
13
m

£1
07

m

£1
06

m

£1
05

m

£1
05

m

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

£100m

£105m

£110m

£115m

£120m

£125m

Central Government funding

£1
23
m

£1
16
m

£1
18
m

£1
13
m

£1
07

m

£1
06

m

£1
05

m

£1
05

m

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

£0k

£300k

£600k

£900k

£1.2m

£1.5m

OPCC budget £'000

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

12
50

10
8
9 11
96

96
1

90
5

78
7

78
7

8
15

78
7



19@CheshirePCC

A
p
o
lic
e
se
rv
ic
e

fi
t
fo
r
th
e
fu
tu
re

Your Council Tax contributes 32.2% towards the cost of policing Cheshire,

with Government grants and other income providing the rest.

Cheshire Police funding 2018/19

Cheshire Police expenditure 2018/19

The charts below provide details of funding
for policing in Cheshire and an overview of
expenditure for 2018/19.

Government Grants

Council Tax Precept

Interest on Balances

Specific Grants

Service Income

Police Pay

Local Policing

Force Operations

Centrally Delivered Services

Business Services

Collaborations

Corporate Costs

Legal and court costs

OPCC Office Costs

OPCC Commissioning

Corporate Costs and
Accounting Adjustments

Transfer to/(from) reserves

Funding
£000

108,353

65,534

100

15,543

14,021

203,551

%

53.3%

32.2%

0.0%

7.6%

6.9%

100.0%

Expenditure
£000

104,597

9,061

34,110

6,001

36,729

10,481

578

199

643

2,554

204,953

-861

-541

203,551

%

51.2%

4.4%

16.6%

2.9%

17.9%

5.1%

0.3%

0.1%

0.3%

1.2%

100.0%



Cheshire’s first drone
Cheshire Constabulary joined forces with

Cheshire Fire & Rescue Service to purchase

the county’s blue-light services’ first drone.

It’s being used to assist with police enquiries and

fire incidents which require aerial support,

whether that be searching for missing people,

assessing road traffic collisions or using the

thermal imaging camera to identify cannabis

farms. The drone is more cost effective and

quicker to deploy than the national Air Support

Service, which the Constabulary also use for

aerial requirements. What’s more, purchasing the

drone jointly with the Fire Service ensured the

best value for Cheshire taxpayers.

PCC ANNUAL REPORT 2018/1920

A
p
o
lic
e
se
rv
ic
e

fi
t
fo
r
th
e
fu
tu
re Cheshire Constabulary

champions diversity
Together with the Chief Constable, I am

committed to ensuring Cheshire Police is a

truly inclusive and supportive employer and

this year, Cheshire Constabulary was awarded

Disability Confident ‘Leader’ status, the

highest status which can be achieved by an

organisation. The Disability Confident scheme

is nationally recognised and encourages

employers to be positive about the skills that

people with disabilities can bring to the

workforce, and to remove barriers to

recruiting and retaining employees with

disabilities. There are many roles on offer

within the Constabulary and this award

demonstrates our commitment to support

those with diverse needs into employment.

In 2018/19, Cheshire Constabulary was also

named as the top performing police service

in the country for equality amongst lesbian,

gay, bi and transgender staff for the second

year running by Stonewall. Cheshire also

moved up eight places in the national

rankings to 18th out of 445 employers in the

public and private sector. This accolade is

testament to the hard work of Cheshire

Constabulary to ensure it is one of the

country’s most inclusive employers.

Investing in our police service

Modernising our estate
The modernisation of our police estate continued in

2018/19 with the decision to relocate Risley Police

Station to Birchwood Fire Station. Risley has the

lowest level of demand of all help desks in Cheshire

due to its location on a no-through road in a quiet

residential area of Birchwood.

The decision to relocate the help desk was supported

by a public consultation with local residents agreeing

that the Fire Station, in the centre of the town, would

provide a more accessible base for local officers.



21@CheshirePCC

A
p
o
lic
e
se
rv
ic
e

fi
t
fo
r
th
e
fu
tu
re

Looking forward
In 2019/20 I’ll be focusing on strengthening

community policing putting more feet on the beat

continuing to bring back real neighbourhood

policing to Cheshire. During the next year, we will

recruit 43 additional police officers and seven PCSOs

to the frontline to facilitate problem solving and

tackle serious and complex crime, which often starts

in our communities, at its root-cause. We have lost

135 officers since 2010, but these extra officers will

help us start to address some of the adverse effects

austerity has had on police numbers.

With more than 50 per cent of crime committed

now cyber related, I’ll also invest in preventing

cybercrime providing funding for a dedicated team

to work with each local policing unit focusing on

protecting the vulnerable.

Next year, I’ll establish an Anti-Bullying Commission

to bring together a team of representatives to look

into the issue which is an epidemic among all

generations in our society. As part of this, I’ll open a

‘Call for Evidence’ to capture real-life experiences.

These case studies, along with existing legislation

and guidance will be reviewed to make

recommendations to public bodies

and establishments to consider how they

can provide more protection for victims

of bullying.

As part of my commitment to put victims first, I’ll

also allocate additional resources to support the

investigation of domestic abuse which affects 1 in 4

women and 1 in 6 men in their lifetime. The aim will

be to work at a local level to reduce repeat

victimisation, currently standing at 1 in 5 amongst

domestic abuse victims.

I also have plans to start the debate on

policing for the next decade to ensure we

are meeting the needs of our diverse

communities.

Once again, I’ll commit to ensuring the

budget for my office remains at the

lowest possible level to provide value

for money for Cheshire taxpayers and

I will ensure, where possible, any

savings made during the current

financial year are invested into

frontline policing.

Collaboration
Together with the Chair of the Fire

Authority, I continue to drive forward

Blue Light collaboration between

Cheshire Constabulary and Cheshire

Fire & Rescue Service. We are looking

to build upon the work we have

already completed in bringing a joint

corporate services department

together and are exploring all possible

opportunities to collaborate together,

in areas such as estates, to deliver

better outcomes and value for money

for Cheshire residents.

As Chair of Cheshire Criminal Justice

Board, I also bring all our local criminal

justice partners together to collaborate

and work closer in partnership to

deliver an efficient and effective

criminal justice sector and continue to

work collaboratively locally, regionally

and nationally on key policing and

crime priorities for residents.

Bodyworn video for every officer
All frontline officers in Cheshire are now wearing body worn

video cameras following the completion of a Constabulary-

wide roll out in 2018, which I funded earlier that year. The

cameras are already proving to be an essential piece of

operational kit by promoting public reassurance, preventing

harm and often deterring people from committing crime and

anti-social behaviour. There are now around 1,000 cameras

and 170 docking stations across the force, meaning that every

officer who comes on shift has access to a camera. Since the

full roll out began earlier this year the force has seen a

number of benefits. These have included footage being used

to support charging decisions and examples of the risks being

faced by frontline officers when dealing with violent people.

POLICE



PCC ANNUAL REPORT 2018/1922

P
er
fo
rm

an
ce Her Majesty’s

Inspectorate of
Constabularies and
Fire & Rescue
Services (HMICFRS)
once again found
that Cheshire
Constabulary was
performing well as
part of its annual inspection. In the
2018/19 PEEL inspection, which took
place between 25-29 March 2019, the
Constabulary was assessed on the extent
to which it is effective at reducing crime
and keeping people safe, it operates
efficiently and sustainably and it treats
the public and workforce legitimately.

Cheshire Constabulary was provided with a

positive grading in all three areas of assessment:

Full details of the assessment can be read

at HMICFRS Cheshire:

https://www.justiceinspectorates.

gov.uk/hmicfrs/police-

forces/cheshire/

Inspection praises
custody suites
Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire &

Rescue Service (HMICFRS) and Her Majesty’s

Inspectorate of Prisons (HMIP) completely an

unannounced inspection of Cheshire Constabulary’s

custody suites in September 2018 and found all three

custody facilities in Blacon, Middlewich and Runcorn to

be rated as ‘good’. The inspectors assessed the

effectiveness of custody services and outcomes for

detained people throughout the different stages of

detention. Generally the report was extremely positive,

with inspectors stating that significant progress had

been made by the force since the last inspection in

2013. The inspectors did highlight 18 areas of

improvement and I will continue to monitoring

progress against these areas through the Scrutiny

Board process. This positive report is testament to the

dedication of custody staff and volunteer Independent

Custody Visitors who work with my office, giving up

their free time to ensure detainees are treated with

respect and have access to appropriate facilities.

‘Outstanding’ at recording crime
An inspection by HMICFRS in March 2017 raised a

number of significant concerns around crime recording

arrangements in Cheshire which led to Cheshire

Constabulary being rated ‘inadequate’ in this area. In

2018, HMICFS re-inspected the Constabulary and found

it had ‘substantially improved its crime recording

accuracy’ and its crime recording processes are now

‘outstanding’. Following the initial report, in my role as

your elected police and crime commissioner, I held the

Acting Chief Constable to account to ensure the

inspectorate’s recommendations were addressed and

that urgent action was prioritised to make vast

improvements to the way crime is recorded in Cheshire.

To go from the lowest level of assessment to the

highest level in just one year is testament to the hard

work of officers and staff. While these improved crime

recording processes have led to an increase in recorded

crime across Cheshire, we can now be confident that

crimes committed across the county are recorded in

the right way, which can only provide more support for

victims and give them amuch greater chance of

seeking justice.

HMICFRS assessment of Cheshire’s
Constabulary’s performance

Efficiency

Effectiveness

Legitimacy

awaiting
outcome

awaiting
outcome

awaiting
outcome

✔

✔

✔



23@CheshirePCC

P
er
fo
rm

an
ceOne of my most important roles as your

elected Police and Crime Commissioner is
being responsible for holding the Chief
Constable to account for maintaining an
efficient and effective police service in
Cheshire. This includes monitoring
performance and scrutinising key
operational decision to ensure the local
police service is answerable to the
communities it serves.

I undertake this role primarily through a quarterly

Scrutiny Board. These meetings, which are held in

public, consider performance against the priorities

identified in the Police and Crime Plan, as well as a

wide range of performance information relating to all

aspects of policing. In 2018/19, I introduced thematic

reporting in each of the four key priority areas of the

Police and Crime Plan. This has enabled me to

complete a deep dive into each area at every meeting

to ensure the Constabulary is delivering against these

important priorities. As part of the scrutiny process, I

also held an ‘extraordinary’ Scrutiny Board meeting in

public to discuss the findings of an independent

review into the policing of hunting in Cheshire. The

meeting provided the opportunity for me to scrutinise

the then newly appointed Chief Constable, Darren

Martland, over how the Constabulary deals with illegal

hunting and offences relating to it. More than 70 local

residents attended the meeting which conveyed the

importance of this issue to Cheshire residents. At the

meeting I asked the Chief Constable how he was

going to implement the 11 recommendations made

by the independent review. I also asked local

residents to submit questions ahead of the meeting

which were grouped into key themes and formed

part of the scrutiny. Following the meeting, I

requested that the Constabulary produce an action

plan to detail how it is going to implement the

actions from the meeting. This plan will be reviewed

regularly at future Scrutiny Board meetings.

Holding the Chief Constable
to account

Figures released by the Office of National Statistics show that crime increased in

Cheshire by 7.5 per cent between April 2018 and March 2019. During this period

the total number of crimes reported rose by 6,566. While it may appear

concerning that reported crime has increased in Cheshire, it is important to

highlight that much of this is down to the changes Cheshire Constabulary has

made to improve the accuracy of crime recording. The improvements to crime

recording have had a particular effect on recorded figures for certain offences,

including public order and violent offences.

Thankfully, offences involving knives in Cheshire are not common. However, like most areas, Cheshire has

experienced increases in this crime type. I have actively encouraged Cheshire Constabulary to tackle knife

crime proactively and I’m pleased that officers are working with

residents, partners in the community, local businesses and schools to

reduce the number of knives on streets. There was also a notable rise in

reports of stalking and harassment offences. This can be partially

explained by changes in how such offences are recorded but could

also be linked to an increased awareness of stalking amongst both

police officers and the wider public through the work of Cheshire’s

integrated anti-stalking unit, which is giving victims the confidence to

report incidences of stalking and harassment. Reports of some types of

acquisitive crime types fell in this period including burglary, shoplifting

and criminal damage and arson. These reductions are very pleasing to

see. Whilst Cheshire still remains an extremely safe place to live, I will

continue to closely monitor crime statistics to ensure the Constabulary

is doing everything it can to reduce crime and protect our

communities.

Crime
statistics

The full release of the April 2018

to March 2019 crime statistics

from the Office of National

Statistics can be accessed

below:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/people

populationandcommunity/

crimeandjustice/bulletins/

crimeinenglandandwales/

yearendingmarch2019



Office of the Police
& Crime Commissioner

Stockton Heath Police Station

Grappenhall Road

Warrington

WA4 2AF

When to call 101
To report less urgent crime or disorder,

to contact the police with general inquiries
or to speak to a local officer. For example:

If your car has been stolen

If your property has been damaged

Reporting a minor traffic incident

Where you suspect drug use or dealing

Giving police information about crime
in your area.

Always call 999 in an emergency, where
there is a threat to life or a crime in progress.

01606 364000

Police.crime.commissioner

@cheshire.pnn.police.uk

@CheshirePCC



OFFICIAL

Cheshire Police and Crime Panel – Work Programme 2019/20

24th October 2019 Possible visit to Essex Police Fire and Crime 
Panel

30th October 2019

Police HQ Winsford, 
2.00pm top 4.00pm

Informal meeting with the Police and Crime 
Commissioner,
 

19th November 2019 Eighth conference for chairs, members and 
officers of police (fire) and crime panels

University of Warwick

22nd November 2019

Warrington Town Hall

Formal Meeting of the Police and Crime Panel

o Questions for the Police and Crime 
Commissioner;

o Scrutiny Items – Management and Scrutiny 
Board notes;

o Work Programme

29th January 2020

Police HQ Winsford, 
2.00pm top 4.00pm

Informal Meeting with the Police and Crime Panel 
(Budget briefing)

7th February 2020

Wyvern House, Winsford

Formal Meeting of the Police and Crime Panel

o Questions for the Police and Crime 
Commissioner;

o Police Precept 2020/21
o Scrutiny Items – Management and Scrutiny 

Board notes;
o Work Programme

Outstanding issues:
 

 Complaints management sub committee to be convened




	Agenda
	4 Minutes of Previous Meetings
	Minutes , 05/07/2019 Cheshire Police and Crime Panel

	5 Powers of the Panel in relation to the suspension / removal of the Chief Constable
	6 Presentation of Scrutiny Agendas and Papers
	8 Police and Crime Commissioner Draft Annual Report
	11 Work Programme

